

WIPO



SCP/7/5
ORIGINAL:English
DATE:March18,2002

E

WORLD INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ORGANIZATION
GENEVA

STANDING COMMITTEE ON THE LAW OF PATENTS

Seventh Session
Geneva, May 6 to 10, 2002

NOTES

prepared by the International Bureau

CONTENTS

I. NOTES ON THE DRAFT TREATY

	<u>Page</u>
Notes on draft Article 1	3
Notes on draft Article 2	6
Notes on draft Article 3	6
Notes on draft Article 4	9
Notes on draft Article 5	10
Notes on draft Article 6	11
Notes on draft Article 7	11
Notes on draft Article 8	13
Notes on draft Article 9	15
Notes on draft Article 10	16
Notes on draft Article 11	17
Notes on draft Article 12	18
Notes on draft Article 13	21
Notes on draft Article 14	21
Notes on draft Article 15	22
Notes on draft Article 16	22
Notes on draft Article 17	22
Notes on draft Article 18	22
Notes on draft Article 19	22
Notes on draft Article 20	22
Notes on draft Article 21	22
Notes on draft Article 22	22
Notes on draft Article 23	22
Notes on draft Article 24	22
Notes on draft Article 25	22
Notes on draft Article 26	22
Notes on draft Article 27	22
Notes on draft Article 28	22
Notes on draft Article 29	22
Notes on draft Article 30	22
Notes on draft Article 31	22
Notes on draft Article 32	22
Notes on draft Article 33	22
Notes on draft Article 34	22
Notes on draft Article 35	22
Notes on draft Article 36	22
Notes on draft Article 37	22
Notes on draft Article 38	22
Notes on draft Article 39	22
Notes on draft Article 40	22
Notes on draft Article 41	22
Notes on draft Article 42	22
Notes on draft Article 43	22
Notes on draft Article 44	22
Notes on draft Article 45	22
Notes on draft Article 46	22
Notes on draft Article 47	22
Notes on draft Article 48	22
Notes on draft Article 49	22
Notes on draft Article 50	22
Notes on draft Article 51	22
Notes on draft Article 52	22
Notes on draft Article 53	22
Notes on draft Article 54	22
Notes on draft Article 55	22
Notes on draft Article 56	22
Notes on draft Article 57	22
Notes on draft Article 58	22
Notes on draft Article 59	22
Notes on draft Article 60	22
Notes on draft Article 61	22
Notes on draft Article 62	22
Notes on draft Article 63	22
Notes on draft Article 64	22
Notes on draft Article 65	22
Notes on draft Article 66	22
Notes on draft Article 67	22
Notes on draft Article 68	22
Notes on draft Article 69	22
Notes on draft Article 70	22
Notes on draft Article 71	22
Notes on draft Article 72	22
Notes on draft Article 73	22
Notes on draft Article 74	22
Notes on draft Article 75	22
Notes on draft Article 76	22
Notes on draft Article 77	22
Notes on draft Article 78	22
Notes on draft Article 79	22
Notes on draft Article 80	22
Notes on draft Article 81	22
Notes on draft Article 82	22
Notes on draft Article 83	22
Notes on draft Article 84	22
Notes on draft Article 85	22
Notes on draft Article 86	22
Notes on draft Article 87	22
Notes on draft Article 88	22
Notes on draft Article 89	22
Notes on draft Article 90	22
Notes on draft Article 91	22
Notes on draft Article 92	22
Notes on draft Article 93	22
Notes on draft Article 94	22
Notes on draft Article 95	22
Notes on draft Article 96	22
Notes on draft Article 97	22
Notes on draft Article 98	22
Notes on draft Article 99	22
Notes on draft Article 100	22

II. NOTES ON THE DRAFT REGULATIONS

		<u>Page</u>
Note on draft Rule 1	Abbreviated Expressions	24
Note on draft Rule 2	Person Skilled in the Art Under Articles 1(x) , 7(3) (e) , 10(1), 11(3)(b) <u>and 4(a) and 12(3)</u> , and Rules <u>1(c)(i), 54(1)(vii) and (2)(b)</u> , 8(2)(b) , 10 (1) and (2) (iii) , 11(1) , 12(1-5) and (3)(a) , 14(1)(ii) , and (2)(a) and (b) <u>and 15 (2), (3) and (4)</u>	24
Note on draft Rule 3	Exceptions Under Article 3(2)	25
Note on draft Rule 4	Details Concerning the Right to a Patent Under Article 4	18
Note on draft Rule 5 <u>4</u>	<u>Further Requirements Concerning</u> Content and Order of Description Under Article <u>5(2)</u>	26
Note on draft Rule 6 <u>5</u>	<u>Further Requirements</u> Details Concerning Claims Under Article <u>5(2)</u>	27
Note on draft Rule 7 <u>6</u>	Details Concerning the Requirement of Unity of Invention Under Article 6	28
Note on draft Rule 16 <u>7</u>	Time Limit Under Article 15 <u>7(1)</u>	28
Note on draft Rule 8	Availability to the Public Under Article 8(1)	29
Note on draft Rule 9	Prior Art Effect of Former <u>Earlier</u> Applications Under Article 8(2)	30
Note on draft Rule 10	Sufficiency of Disclosure Under Article 10	32
Note on draft Rule 11	Deposit of Biologically Reproducible Material Under Article 10	32
Note on draft Rule 12	Interpretation of Claims Under Article 11(4)	33
Note on draft Rule 13	Exceptions to Patentable Subject Matter Under Article 12(4) <u>12(5)</u>	35
Note on draft Rule 14	Items of Prior Art Under Article 12(2)	36
Note on draft Rule 15	Items of Prior Art Under Article 12(3)	37

INTRODUCTION

The present document contains Notes on the provisions of the draft Substantive Patent Law Treaty and the draft Regulations Under the draft Substantive Patent Law Treaty contained in documents SCP/7/3 and 4.

I. NOTES ON THE DRAFT TREATY

Notes on draft Article 1
(Abbreviated Expressions)

1.01 Item (i). The term “Office” includes both the national Office of any State which is a Contracting Party to the Treaty, and the regional Office of any intergovernmental organization which is a Contracting Party. For example, the Treaty will apply to the European Patent Office if, and only if, the European Patent Organisation is a Contracting Party. The term also includes branch offices of such national and regional Offices. The reference to “other matters covered by this Treaty” covers the situation in which the Office of a Contracting Party is in charge of other procedures in respect of patents, for example, a post-grant opposition procedure, if such procedure was to be included in the Treaty, or the procedure in invalidation of a granted patent.

1.02 Item (iv). The term “claimed invention” is proposed to be used in the Treaty and the Regulations, since it is more precise than the term “invention,” which is often used in relation to patents in a general sense. In short, the expression “claimed invention” refers unambiguously to the subject matter for which protection is sought as it is contained and defined in a claim. It may be noted that the words “claimed invention” are also used in the Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) in relation to substantive matters of patentability (see for instance PCT Articles 33 to 35).

1.03 Item (vii). The term “applicant” is used in the Treaty and the Regulations to refer only to the person who is indicated as such in the records of the Office. Accordingly, any other person whom it might have, or purport to have, a legal claim of ownership or other rights is not considered an applicant or owner for the purposes of this Treaty or the Regulations. The question of whom may apply for a patent remains a matter for the applicable law of the Contracting Party concerned. Where the applicable law provides that a patent must be applied for in the name of the actual inventor or inventors, the “person who is applying for the patent” could be the inventor or joint inventors. Where a person is permitted under the applicable law to apply for a patent in place of an inventor who, for example, is dead, or legally incapacitated, that person is the “person who is applying for the patent.” “Another person who is filing the application” could, for example, under certain circumstances, be the inventor’s legal representative or sole heir in the United States of America. Where the applicable law provides that an application may be submitted by any natural or legal person, the applicant is the person submitting the application. Where the applicable law of a Contracting Party provides that several persons may jointly be applicants or owners, the term “applicant” is to be construed as including “applicants” (see item (x)). “Another person who is prosecuting the application” could, in particular, be an assignee of record of the right, title and interest in an application, where the applicable law of a Contracting Party requires the patent to be applied for in the name of the actual inventor and also provides that such an assignee is entitled to conduct the prosecution of the application to the exclusion of the named inventor.

1.04 Item (vi). The term “filing date” means the actual filing date of an application, as provided for under the applicable law of a Contracting Party in accordance with Article 5 of the Patent Law Treaty (PLT). Article 5 of the PLT provides that a Contracting Party of the PLT has to accord a filing date to an application where the application complies with the three following requirements: first, an indication that the elements received on a specific date are intended to be an application for a patent for an invention must be provided (Article 5(1)(a)(i)). Second, the Office must be provided with indications which identify the applicant, and/or allow the applicant to be contacted (Article 5(1)(a)(ii) and (1)(c)). Third, the Office must have received a part which on the face of it appears to be a description (Article 5(1)(a)(iii)). No additional elements may be required for a filing date to be accorded, although the Office may accept evidence allowing the identity of the applicant to be established or allowing the applicant to be contacted by the Office, as these second element referred to above. In particular, a Contracting Party may not require one or more claims as a filing date requirement. Further, for the purpose of obtaining a filing date, an applicant could file a description in any language (Article 5(2)(b)), or replace the description and/or drawings by a reference to another application (Article 5(7)).

1.05 Item (vii). The term “time of filing” is used in the Treaty and the Regulations only in several provisions, namely in draft Article 7(3) relating to the amendment or correction of an application and in draft Article 8(1) concerning prior art as well as draft Rules 12(1), (3)(a) and 15(2) (in square brackets). In the case of draft Article 7(3), the specific reference to the time of filing is required in order to cover the situation where, for example, an application is filed in the morning and amended in the afternoon of the same day in a way that goes beyond the disclosure as originally filed in the morning. In this case, the applicant may withdraw the first application and file a separate application in the afternoon. In the case of draft Article 8(1), if the term “time of filing,” which is included in square brackets, was included, the prior art would consist of everything which has been made available to the public before the specific time of filing, including what has been made available to the public at an earlier point in time of the same day.

1.06 Item (viii). The term “priority date” is used in draft Articles 8(2) and 9, and related draft Rules, since, in the other cases, that term is covered by the term “claim date” (see Notes 1.07 to 1.09). In the case of the prior art effect of earlier applications under draft Article 8(2), however, the specific mention of the priority date is needed, since that prior art effect is based on the whole contents of the earlier application, and not on the claims alone. It is to be noted that draft Article 9 has not been discussed in depth by the SCP yet.

1.07 Item (ix). The priority date of an application is the date of the earliest application on which priority is claimed, and is used for setting time limits. However, the priority date is not always the date that determines the prior art for a particular claim, for example, where the claim contains elements that were not included in the application in respect of which the earliest priority is claimed. The term “claim date” takes into account the situation where an application contains more than one invention contained in different claims, and which may claim the priority of different earlier applications. This reflects the practice of many Offices, which consider each claim on a case-by-case basis. The claim date relates to a particular claim, not to the application as a whole, and establishes the date for the determination of the patentability of the invention contained in the particular claim. Thus, different claims in an application may have different claim dates. The claim date of a claim in

an application is either the actual filing date of ~~the~~ that application containing the claim—or, where a right of priority based on an earlier application has been ~~validly claimed under~~ in accordance with the applicable law, the filing date of the earlier application containing ~~the~~ subject matter defined by the claim. It follows from the words “priority is claimed in accordance with the applicable law” that the claim in question is entitled to the priority under the applicable law, which should be in conformity with Article 4 of the Paris Convention. The term “filing date” means the filing date of an application, as provided for under the applicable law, which should, in accordance with draft Article 17, comply with Article 5 of the Patent Law Treaty (PLT).

1.085 In order to use a consistent term to refer to the date on which the prior art is determined for each claim, it is suggested to adopt ~~the~~ term such as “claim date.” This term is already used in Canadian law in the same sense (see sections 2 and 28.1 of the Canadian Patent Act (R.S. 1985, c. P-4)). The use of the term “claim date” also allows to avoid the use of the term “priority date” throughout the Treaty and the Regulations in relation to substantive examination (see, however, the exceptions in draft Article 8(2) and 9, and related draft Rule 5, and Note 1.06). It is further to be noted that this term is not used in Article 4 of the Paris Convention. Rather, the Paris Convention refers to a priority period for each earlier application referred to in the priority claim.

1.096 These second sentence of item ~~(xviii)~~ (ix) covers the situation where a claim defines its subject matter in the several alternative limitations contained in one claim have different priority dates. The alternatives contained in square brackets reflect the different practices of Offices, some of which allow a single claim to have multiple priority dates, while others do not. In the first alternative, the claim date for the whole claim would be the latest of the dates applicable to the different limitations, while under the second alternative, each limitation could be entitled to a different claim date. The term “alternative” means, according to the Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary (tenth edition), “a situation offering a choice between two or more things only one of which may be chosen”. Therefore, these second sentence deals, within the context of the claimed subject matter, with the cases where a claim contains more than one element or step and each of those elements or steps is entitled to a different claim date. It covers both clear and self-evident alternatives, such as Markush-type claims, and the case where the claim contained in the earlier application covers only a part of the claimed invention defined by a broad expression. There is no substantive difference between the two texts within brackets. According to the first option, each alternative could be afforded a different claim date, i.e., the one to which that alternative is entitled to, while according to the second option, for the purposes of the claim date, the fiction is established that each alternative shall constitute a separate claim, and could therefore have a different claim date.

1.07 Item (ix). Since the Treaty and the Regulations would also be applicable to divisional, continuation and continuation-in-part applications (see Note 3.04), for these particular types of applications, the term “claim date” must be defined as the claim date of the claim in the relevant parent application.

1.10 Item (x). The expression “general knowledge of a person skilled in the art” as used in the Treaty and the Regulations is intended to include everything that could reasonably be expected to be known by a person skilled in the art clearly derived from his or her general knowledge, for example trivial features or information contained in basic textbooks on the

subject in question, but excluding knowledge that would require inventive activity. With respect to the definition of a “person skilled in the art,” reference is made to draft Rule 2 and the corresponding Notes.

1.11 Items (xvii), (xviii) and (xx) are in square brackets, since they will be needed for the final and administrative provisions, which are not included in the present provisions yet.

Notes on draft Article 2 (General Principle)

2.01 Paragraph (1). This provision states, in express terms, a principle which was agreed at the fifth session of the SCP, namely that the Treaty and the Regulations do not deal with any substantive requirements related to infringement issues. The Treaty and the Regulations therefore apply, as a general rule, to questions of patentability and validity (during both the pre-grant and post-grant stages). Consequently, the provisions relating to infringement contained in documents SCP/5/2 and 3, such as those on equivalents and on “file wrapper estoppel” are proposed to be deleted from the present draft. The Treaty and the Regulations would therefore not prevent any Contracting Party from applying any substantive requirements related to infringement, such as, for example, intervening third party rights or the determination of the scope of the claims for the purposes of infringement. As agreed at the sixth session of the SCP, however, the words “Subject to Article 11(4)” provide one exception to this principle: for the determination of the scope of protection of the claim, provisions concerning the interpretation of claims (see draft Article 11(4) and draft Rule 12) shall be applicable. It is to be noted that the SPLT does not interfere with other types of laws, such as anti-trust and unfair competition laws, or general rules relating to fraud.

2.02 Paragraph (2). A similar provision is contained in Article 73(b) of the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement) and in Article 4 of the PLT. The “essential security interests” of a Contracting Party which is an intergovernmental organization refer to the security interests of its member States.

Notes on draft Article 3 (Applications and Patents to Which the Treaty Applies)

3.01 Paragraph (1). In principle, and subject to paragraph (2), this provision applies the Treaty and the Regulations to all applications which are filed with or for the Office of a Contracting Party and to patents for invention and patents of addition, which have been granted with effect for a Contracting Party. As regards international applications under the Patent Cooperation Treaty, however, reference is made to the exceptions provided under paragraph (2) and Rule 3, and related Notes. No distinction is made between applications filed by, and patents granted to, nationals of Contracting Parties and applications filed by, and patents granted to, other nationals.

3.02 Item (i). The expression “applications... which are filed... for the Office of a Contracting Party” covers, in particular, applications for a regional patent that are filed with the Office of a State X, which is a member State of a regional organization, for onward

transmission to the Office of that organization. However, a regional application which designates State X is an application filed with the Office of the regional organization but not an application filed for the Office of State X. Accordingly, where, for example, both the European Patent Organisation (EPO) and State X were party to the Treaty, the Treaty and the Regulations would apply to European applications and to national applications filed with the Office of State X. However, if State X were party to the Treaty, but the EPO were not, the Treaty and the Regulations would apply to national applications filed with the Office of State X, but not to European applications, even if State X were redesignated. Conversely, if the EPO were party to the Treaty, but State X were not, the Treaty and the Regulations would apply to European applications, including those designating State X, but would not apply to national applications filed with the Office of State X.

3.03 The terms “applications for patents for invention” and “applications for patents of addition” are to be construed in the same sense as the term invention in PCT Article 2(i). Accordingly, the Treaty and the Regulations do not apply to the applications listed in that Article other than applications for patents for invention and applications for patents of addition, namely, applications for inventors’ certificates, utility certificates, utility models, certificates of addition, inventors’ certificates of addition, and utility certificates of addition. However, a Contracting Party is free to apply some or all of the provisions of the Treaty and the Regulations to such other applications, even though it is not obliged to do so. Similarly, the Treaty and the Regulations do not apply to applications for “plant patents” or “design patents” which are not patents for invention, although they do apply to applications for patents in respect of plants which are inventions, for example plants which are the result of genetic engineering.

3.04 The scope of the Treaty and the Regulations is, unlike the PLT, not limited to those types of applications for patents for invention and for patents of addition permitted to be filed as international applications under the PCT. Thus, subject to paragraph (2), the Treaty and Regulations apply to all types of applications for patents for invention and patents of addition including divisional applications and applications for continuation or continuation-in-part of an earlier application. This situation may therefore arise that a Contracting Party to both the PLT and the SPLT would not have to apply the Treaty and the Regulations to a certain type of application, but would have to apply the substantive requirements of the SPLT to that same application. This difference appears to be justified, since, as far as substantive requirements of patent law are concerned, there would be no apparent reason to limit the scope of the Treaty and the Regulations as is the case under the PLT, where, in order to avoid different standards as far as formalities of patent applications are concerned, the scope of the PLT was modeled after the PCT. It is to be noted that this item does not regulate the types of applications that a Contracting Party shall accept; this remains a matter for the applicable law of the Contracting Party concerned.

3.05 However, the Treaty and the Regulations do not apply to applications for patent term extension, for example, in respect of patents for pharmaceutical products under the law of Japan, the United States of America and the European Community, since these are not applications for the grant of a patent. Similarly, they do not apply to applications for patent term adjustment, for example, as in the United States of America, in respect of the determination of additional patent term for delays in the issuance of a patent. In addition, they do not apply to an application for the conversion of an application for a European patent into a

national application for one or more designated States since this is a request for a different type of treatment rather than an application for the grant of a patent. However, the Treaty does apply to the application once it has been converted to a national application, if the country concerned is a party to the Treaty. A Contracting Party is free to apply some or all of the provisions of the Treaty and Regulations to any type of application not covered by item (i), although it is not obliged to do so. As regards divisional applications, reference is made to the explanation under item (ii) (see Note 3.06).

3.06 Item (ii). This item is in square brackets, since divisional applications have been included at the specific request of the SCP. However, it may be questioned whether this item is needed in view of item (i), which seems to cover divisional applications as well. For more detailed provisions on divisional applications, reference is made to Article 4 G of the Paris Convention. Nevertheless, the SCP may wish to discuss the desirability to include, in the Regulations, certain details applicable to divisional applications going beyond Article 4 G of the Paris Convention. Under this item, the provisions of the Treaty and Regulations apply to international applications for patents of invention and patents of addition. Reference is made, however, to paragraph (2) and Rule (3)(i), according to which the Treaty and the Regulations would not apply in respect of an international application under the PCT which has not yet entered the "national phase" in a national or regional Office. This exception is contained in the Regulations rather than in the Treaty in order to maintain some flexibility in view of possible future developments of the PCT.

3.07 Item (iii). The Treaty and the Regulations apply both to national and regional patents granted by the Office of a Contracting Party and to patents granted on behalf of a Contracting Party by another Office, in particular, the regional Office of an intergovernmental organization, irrespective of whether that intergovernmental organization is a party to the Treaty. For example, if State X referred to in Note 3.02 were a party to the Treaty, the Treaty and the Regulations would apply both to patents granted by the Office of State X and to patents granted by the European Patent Office insofar as they have effect in State X, irrespective of whether the EPO were a party to the Treaty. If the EPO were a party to the Treaty, the Treaty and the Regulations would apply to all European patents for the purposes of any procedures before the European Patent Office, for example, the revocation of patents in opposition proceedings, even if State X were not a party to the Treaty.

3.08 The terms "patents for invention" and "patents of addition" are to be construed in the same sense as those expressions in PCT Article 2(ii). Accordingly, the Treaty and the Regulations do not apply to patents which are listed in that Article other than patents for invention and patents of addition, namely, inventors' certificates, utility certificates, utility models, certificates of addition, inventors' certificates of addition, and utility certificates of addition (see also Note 3.03). However, a Contracting Party is free to apply some or all of the provisions of the Treaty and the Regulations to such other patents, even though it is not obliged to do so. In addition, the Treaty and the Regulations apply to patents for inventions and patents of addition granted on international applications.

3.09 Paragraph (2). The types of applications {and patents} excepted under this paragraph are contained in draft Rule 3. In particular, the Treaty and the Regulations would not apply to international applications under the Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) as long as their processing or examination has not started before a national or regional Office [except for Article 8(2)].

One delegation further indicated at the ~~fifth~~^{sixth} session of the SCP that one of the exceptions that may be envisaged was the so-called ~~de -issue application -~~ de -examination proceedings.

Notes on draft Article 4

(Right to a Patent)

4.01 This provision deals with the question of who has the right to a patent. Details are contained in draft Rule 4 (see Notes R4.01 to R4.03).

4.02 ~~Items (i) and (ii) -~~ Paragraph (1). The basic principle provided by the Treaty is that the right to a patent shall belong to the inventor or to his successor in title. The term "inventor" means the persons who actually invented the claimed subject matter. The term "successor in title" covers any natural person or legal entity who, pursuant to the applicable law, is entitled to the right to a patent by virtue of transfer of the right from the inventor, such as through assignment, employment contract, donation, inheritance, bankruptcy and the like. ~~In certain legal systems, the employer is considered to be the successor in title of the inventor, while in others systems, this is not the case (see Note 4.03). The specific rules in different Contracting Parties applicable to the transfer of rights as such are not affected by this provision.~~ The representative of a deceased or legally incapacitated inventor (or his successor in title) is not covered by this provision, since such a representative would, in general, not act in his own name, but in the name of the person he/she represents.

4.03 ~~Item (iii) -~~ This item covers the situation where a person owns the right to a patent without falling under one of the categories referred to in items (i) and (ii). An example would be where the right to the patent, although the invention was made by the employee, arises originally in the person of the employer, as it is the case under certain legal systems. Paragraph (2)(a). According to this provision, a Contracting Party is free to decide how it wishes to regulate the right to a patent in the case of employee's inventions and commissioned inventions. Although the provision does not achieve full harmonization, it follows the wish expressed by the majority of the SCP, at its fifth session, to maintain some flexibility on this issue.

4.04 Paragraph (2)(b). This provision deals with the issue of applicable law for the determination of the right to a patent in the case of employee's inventions, where employer and employee are in different countries. Since it is not a provision on substantive patent law, but rather deals with the applicable law, it is placed within square brackets. It has been included in order to obtain guidance from the SCP on whether, in view of the freedom provided in subparagraph (a), such a provision might be useful for users in order to determine which law is applicable where the employer and the employee operate in different countries.

4.05 Paragraph (3). This paragraph contains the applicable rules under the Treaty concerning the right to a patent where several inventors have jointly made the invention. In such a case, the inventors may agree on how the right to the patent shall be divided among them by way of, for example, a contract. In the absence of such an agreement, each inventor would have an equal and undivided right to the patent.

4.06 Paragraph(4). This paragraph is currently reserved since it relates to the first -to-file/ first-to-invent issue.

Notes on draft Article 5
(Application)

5.01 Paragraph(1). This paragraph contains a list of the different parts an application must contain and seem to be self-explanatory. The terms “where required they are necessary for the understanding of the claimed invention” in item (iv) are not the same as the words “where required” are also used in Article 3(2) of the PCT, but are in line with PCT Article 7(1). The intention is to make it clear that they are not meant to allow Offices to require drawings, but rather to allow applicants to submit such drawings where it appears necessary for the understanding of the claimed invention. The term “drawings” in item (iv) includes photographs and other forms of graphic representations using new technologies.

5.02 Paragraph(2). This paragraph provides for the interface between the draft SPLT, the PLT and the PCT. Detailed Explanations are contained in document SCP/6/5 (“Study on the Interface between the SPLT, the PLT and the PCT”). In principle, the requirements under the PCT relating to the request, description, claims, drawings and abstract, both formality requirements and substantive requirements, are incorporated by reference into the SPLT. However, if the PLT, the SPLT or the Regulations under those Treaties provide any other requirements different from or additional to the PCT requirements concerning the request, description, claims, drawings and abstract, the former shall apply. For example, Article 3(3) of the PCT provides that the abstract merely serves the purpose of technical information and cannot be taken into account for any other purposes. A Contracting Party of the SPLT would, however, not be bound by this requirement, since draft Article 7(3) of the SPLT allows an amendment or correction taking into account the disclosure in the abstract as of the filing date, where the abstract was prepared by the applicant. In particular, draft Rules 4 and 5 of the SPLT provide further requirements concerning the description and claims which are not identical to the PCT requirements.

5.03 In accordance with Rule 5.2 of the PCT, nucleotide and/or amino acid sequence listings are part of the description. Therefore, the requirements concerning such sequence listings under the PCT are incorporated by reference into the SPLT.

5.034 Paragraph(3). This paragraph seems to be self-explanatory and contains the generally accepted principle that the abstract shall only serve informational purposes, and shall, in particular, not be used for the purpose of interpreting the claims, determining the sufficiency of the disclosure or the patentability of the claimed invention. Notwithstanding this general principle, the words “Subject to Article 7(3)(a)” reflect the fact that, in accordance with the opinion of the SCP expressed at its sixth session, the contents of the abstract which are incorporated in the description, claims or drawings to the extent allowed under draft Article 7(3)(a) shall be taken into account for the purposes of determining the sufficiency of the disclosure. In the same context, attention is also drawn to draft Article 10(2) relating to disclosure. The SPLT does not regulate the question of who should establish the abstract. Therefore, the Office of a Contracting Party is free to establish an abstract itself or to amend the abstract or to choose any figures that better characterize the claimed invention *ex-officio*.

It goes without saying that those parts of the abstract which are amended by the Office shall not be taken into account for the purposes of determining the sufficiency of the disclosure.

Notes on draft Article 6
(Unity of Invention)

6.01 The text of this Article is subject to the outcome of the Working Group on Multiple Invention Disclosures and Complex Applications. This provision contains the widely accepted principle of unity of invention. The terms “the claims in the application” make it clear that the claims as such must fulfill the requirement of unity of invention, since they define the invention.

6.02 The essential purpose of the requirement of unity of invention is to facilitate the administration and the search of applications. Accordingly, reference is made to draft Articles 13 and 14, according to which the failure to comply with the requirement of unity of invention may be a ground for the refusal of an application, but may not, if a patent has been granted on an application that does not comply with that requirement, be a ground for the invalidation or revocation of the patented claim or patent. In other words, failure to comply with the requirement can and needs only be corrected at the application stage. At that stage, the sanction for non-compliance is the refusal of the grant of a patent unless the claimed invention is restricted through the elimination of certain claimed subject matter. The subject matters so eliminated may then be included into one or more “divisional” applications.

6.03 An objection of lack of unity should only be made when lack of unity seriously disturbs the procedure and, if made, it should be made as soon as possible, that is, normally at the latest at the stage of the first examination based on the prior art. At a later stage of procedure, it should not be raised unless as a consequence of an amendment of claims or for other clearly justified reasons.

6.04 Details concerning the requirement of unity of invention are prescribed in draft Rule 76.

Notes on draft Article 7
(Observations, Amendment or Correction of Application)

7.01 Paragraph (1)(a). This provision obliges the Office to provide, where it finds that it intends to reject or refuse an application based on the fact that the application does not meet any requirements provided under the Treaty and the Regulations are not complied with Article 13(1), at least one opportunity to make observations on the intended rejection or refusal and to subsequently remedy such non-compliance by way of, for example, an amendment or a correction. The Office cannot reject or refuse the application on the grounds of non-compliance with certain requirements, unless at least one opportunity to comply, within the time limit prescribed in draft Rule 7, with each and every of those requirements has been given to the applicant. It does not regulate how and when the Office should communicate with the applicant in case of non-compliance with any requirements. It is to be noted that this provision does not require the Office to check the application as regards the compliance with all the requirements under the Treaty and the Regulations before the grant of

apatent. Concerning the scope of amendments and corrections permitted, reference is made to paragraph (3) (see Notes 7.067 to 7.08). Where, despite the opportunity to amend or correct the application, the application still fails to comply with the requirements, the consequence of such non-compliance is provided in draft Article 13 (see Notes 13.01 to 13.03).

7.02 It is to be noted that, as far as formality requirements are concerned, the PLT provides that the Office shall notify the applicant and shall give at least one opportunity to comply with certain formality requirements. For example, where the filing date requirements under PLT Article 5(1) and (2) are not complied with, according to PLT Article 5(3), the Office shall notify the applicant, giving the opportunity to comply with any such requirements.

7.03 Paragraph (1)(b). This provision provides an exception to the obligation of an Office under subparagraph (a) as far as divisional, continuation and continuation -in-part applications are concerned: where, in the case of divisional, continuation or continuation -in-part applications, the opportunity to make observations and to correct or amend such application has already been granted in respect of the parent application for remedying a certain error or defect, and the same error or defect was nevertheless not corrected and is still contained in the divisional, continuation or continuation -in-part application, the Office does not need to give a further opportunity for such correction or amendment, although it may do so at its own discretion.

7.034 Paragraph (2). According to paragraph (1), an applicant has the possibility to make observations and to make amendments and corrections following a notification from the Office on the non-compliance with any requirements under Article 13(1). In addition, this provision permits an applicant to subsequently remedy any non-compliance with the requirements provided under the Treaty and the Regulations on his own initiative up to the time when the application is in order for grant. The expression "when the application is in order for grant" is to be understood as the time when the technical preparations for publication are completed. Once these preparations are completed, i.e., when the publication cannot be stopped by the Office anymore. For example, the Office may not need to allow the applicant to make an amendment or correction up to the completion of the technical preparations for publication of the application. Abandoning a claim would be considered to be an amendment of the application.

7.045 However, where the Office provides a substantive examination, it may, except for clear mistakes under paragraph (3)(b), further limit the period during which the applicant may amend or correct the application on his own initiative. "The first substantive communication from the Office" may be, for example, a communication from the Office to the applicant notifying the Office's finding with respect to the non-compliance with any substantive requirements after, in particular, the substantive examination. It may also be a communication that the application is in order for grant and that the required fee for grant is due. Once the substantive examination has started, allowing the applicant to amend or correct the application on his/her initiative at any time may run counter to an effective procedure to process patent applications. For example, a substantive examiner may, while conducting search and examination in respect of a claim, receive a name amendment to that claim initiated by the applicant, which would oblige the examiner to repeat the whole search and examination process.

7.056 It is to be noted that, since this paragraph only deals with the right of the applicant to amend or correct the application, if the applicable laws so permits, the applicant may amend or correct the application on his own initiative at a later stage than is provided in this paragraph. Concerning the scope of amendments and corrections permitted, reference is made to paragraph (3) (see Notes 7.067 to 7.089).

7.067 Paragraph (3)(a). The consequence of the failure to comply with this requirement is provided in draft Article 13(1)(iii) (see Notes 13.01 and 13.02). The phrase “the disclosure of the invention contained in the claims, description, the claims, any or drawings as filed at the time of and, where it was prepared by the applicant, the abstract on the filing date” includes matters that had been disclosed in the claims, description or drawings at the time of and abstract (where it was prepared by the applicant) on the filing date, but subsequently deleted from the claims, description or drawings during the prosecution of the application before the Office. The provision allows for the possibility to amend the description, the claims, the abstract and any drawings on the basis of what had been disclosed in the abstract as of the filing date, where the abstract was prepared by the applicant. This would, for example, make it possible to include matters disclosed in the abstract into the description, where such matters were not contained in the description. If, however, the abstract was established by, or under the responsibility of, the Office, corrections or amendments of the description, the claims, the abstract and any drawings based on the disclosure in the abstract would not be allowed under this provision, since the general rule established in Article 5(3) would apply, i.e. that the abstract shall serve for information purposes only. Further, this paragraph does not prevent the applicant from amending the application by adding newly discovered references to the prior art, since such references would not extend the disclosure of the invention.

7.07 Paragraph (3)(b). This paragraph seems to be self-explanatory.

7.08 Paragraph (3)(eb). This provision contains alternative text in square brackets in respect of the relevant person for the determination of the term “clear mistake”. If the persons skilled in the art is the relevant person, clear mistakes would also cover mistakes of a technical nature, such as mistakes in chemical or mathematical formulas, if they were clear to a person skilled in the art. The expression “persons skilled in the art” is contained in draft Rule 2 (see Notes R2.01 to R2.03). In the case of the second alternative, the possibility of an amendment or correction would be limited to those errors which are clear to any person, thereby not requiring any particular qualification of such a person. Since, according to the second alternative, a mistake does not qualify as a “clear mistake” if there is one single person who does not consider it clear, the practicability of the second alternative may be reviewed. In accordance with draft Article 16, in order to determine whether the mistake is a clear one, any evidence may be taken into account.

Notes on draft Article 8 (Prior Art)

8.01 Paragraph (1). The definition of prior art is of fundamental importance for the determination of patentability, since novelty and inventive step are examined on the basis of existing art, i.e., prior art. According to this provision, first, the prior art with respect to the

subject matter of a particular claim shall consist of all information which has been made available to the public anywhere in the world, before the claim date of such claim. The expression “information” is to be understood as encompassing anything which can be captured by the five human senses through, for example, hearing, reading, study or instruction. In accordance with the decision of the SCP, ~~if~~ the words contained in square brackets “time of filing on the” were included, the precise time of filing of the claim on the claim date would be relevant for the determination of prior art. ~~If these words were not included,~~ are proposed to be deleted so that the prior art would consist of any information that has been made available to the public before the claim date, regardless of the time of filing of that claim, but information made available on the same day, even though earlier than the time of filing of the claim in question, would not form part of the prior art. Details concerning availability to the public are contained in draft Rule 8(2).

8.02 Second, the prior art shall consist of information that has been made available to the public in any form, whether it is in written form or not (see draft Rule 8(1) and Note R8.01). Consequently, for example, no Contracting Party may exclude from the prior art information that has been made available to the public by oral presentation, regardless of the country in which the presentation was made. Third, in accordance with the reference to paragraph (2), the prior art with respect to certain claims shall also include ~~former~~ earlier applications that are filed in, or with effect for, the same Contracting Party before, but are published after, the claim date of that claim, although the contents of the ~~former~~ earlier application have not been made available to the public before the claim date. Fourth, in accordance with the reference to draft Article 9, information which meets the conditions of that Article is not considered to be prior art, even if that information has been made available to the public before the claim date.

8.03 ~~The alternatives presented within square brackets regarding the definition of “claim date” under draft Article 1(ix) result in different definitions of prior art where more than one limitation is included in one claim and those limitations are entitled to different claim dates. If the first alternative under draft Article 1(ix) was chosen, the prior art with respect to that claim would consist of any information that has been made available to the public before the latest of the different claim dates, i.e., the earliest date on which all of the alternative limitations were made available to the public. If the second alternative was included, the prior art with respect to each alternative claim limitation would be determined individually on the basis of the claim date of each limitation.~~

8.04 3 Further details concerning the availability to the public are provided in draft Rule 8 (see Notes R8.01 to R8.05) and in the Practice Guidelines.

8.05 4 Paragraph (2). This paragraph provides that the prior art with respect to certain claims also consists of ~~former~~ earlier applications filed in, or with effect for, the same Contracting Party, the filing date (or where applicable, the priority date) of which is earlier than the claim date of that claim, provided that the ~~former~~ earlier application, or the patent granted on the ~~former~~ earlier application, is published after such claim date. In accordance with draft Article 12(2) and (3), the ~~former~~ earlier applications referred to in this paragraph form part of the prior art for the purpose of the determination of novelty, but not of inventive step. It is to be noted that if the words within square brackets “except for Article 8(2)” in draft Rule 3(i) are included, any international application under the PCT would constitute prior art under this provision, although the Treaty and the Regulations, as a general rule, would not apply to those

applications as long as they have not entered the “national phase” (see item (i) of draft Rule 3 and Note R3.01). According to Article 11(3) of the PCT, any international application accorded an international filing date shall have the effect of a regular national application in each designated State as of the international filing date, which date shall be considered to be the actual filing date in each designated State. Further, it should be noted that the Working Group on Reform of the PCT will re-examine the concept and operation of the designation system under the PCT.

8.065 Although the contents of a former earlier application have not been made available to the public before the claim date of the claim under consideration, that application forms part of the prior art in order to avoid any possibility of double patenting, since the subject matter disclosed in the former earlier application as of the filing date could lead to a separate patent. In addition, since the whole contents of the former earlier application is published later, if the subject matter of the claim contained in the later application is not new having regard to the former earlier application, that claim would not add any new contribution to the existing art.

8.076 Detailed conditions as regards the prior art effect of former earlier applications are provided in draft Rule 9 (see Notes R9.01 to R9.078).

Notes on draft Article 9
(Information Not Affecting Patentability (Grace Period) [Alternative A]
Grace Period [Alternative B])

9.01 ~~This draft Article is placed in square brackets, since its inclusion may depend on discussion to be taking place at a later stage.~~

9.021 Alternative A. This Alternative is modeled after draft Article 12 of the Draft Treaty Supplementing the Paris Convention as Far as Patents Are Concerned (“1991 Draft”; see documents PLT/DC/3 and 69). ~~However, the use of the words “disclosure” in the title and “disclosed” in the preamble and in item (ii)(a) of paragraph (1) have been avoided, so that the terms “disclosure” and “disclose,” which appear in draft Article 10 with a different meaning, are used consistently throughout the draft SPLT.~~

9.02 Paragraph (1). The words “anywhere in the world in any form” in the preamble have been added for consistency with draft Article 8. In addition, items (i) and (iii) are intended to cover the cases where the information was made available to the public through experimental use by the inventor or by a third party which obtained the information from the inventor. It follows from the general provision on evidence in draft Article 16 that, where the applicability of the grace period is contested, the party invoking its effect shall have the burden of proving, or of making the conclusion likely, that the necessary conditions are fulfilled.

9.03 Paragraph (3). The phrase “at any time” means that the effect of paragraph (1) can be claimed at any stage of the patent-granting procedure or thereafter, for example, during invalidation proceedings. It would prevent third parties from raising, during invalidation proceedings, the prior art effect of a publication made by the inventor.

9.04 Paragraph(4). In accordance with the intervention of a number of delegations at the sixth session of the SCP, this provision introduces intervening rights of third parties, who were using the invention or had started effective and serious preparations for such use, in good faith, between the date on which the invention, or information related to it, was made available to the public under paragraph (1) and the claim date. The party enjoying such intervening rights has the right to use (or to continue to use) the invention for the purposes of his/her business. A Contracting Party is, however, free to provide any remuneration mechanism for such use. As regards the limitation to the claim date, reference is made to Article 4B. of the Paris Convention, which states that third-party rights or any right of personal possession cannot be acquired during the priority period based on any of the acts referred to in that provision.

9.035 Alternative B. This Alternative does not change the substance of Alternative A. It simply provides for the principle to be contained in the Treaty, while further details would be moved to the Regulations.

Notes on draft Article 10
(Enabling Disclosure)

10.01 Paragraph(1). Although this provision refers to the application, since the abstract merely serves the purpose of technical information, the abstract shall not be taken into account for the determination of the sufficiency of disclosure, (see draft Article 10(2)). Where the application refers to biologically reproducible material which cannot otherwise be disclosed in the application to meet the requirements prescribed in this paragraph, the application shall be supplemented that requirements shall be considered to be complied with by a deposit of such material. Details concerning the deposit of biologically reproducible material are prescribed in draft Rule 11 (see Notes R11.01 and to R11.0 23). The notion of “a person skilled in the art” is prescribed in draft Rule 2 (see Note R2.01) and in the Practice Guidelines.

10.02 Thesecond sentence of this paragraph clarifies the phrase “sufficiently clear and complete for the invention to be carried out by a person skilled in the art.” First, the disclosure is aimed at a person skilled in the art. This person may use its general knowledge to supplement the information contained in the application (see draft Rule 10(1)2). Second, the disclosure must allow a person skilled in the art to both make and use the claimed invention. Therefore, if the disclosure of a claimed invention, for example, of a chemical compound or biological material which is isolated and purified, allows a person skilled in the art to reproduce such chemical compound or biological material, but is not sufficient to teach how it can be used, such a disclosure does not comply with the requirement under draft Article 10. Third, although a reasonable amount of trial and error is permissible, a person skilled in the art must, on the basis of the disclosure of the claimed invention and the general knowledge, be able to carry out the invention without “undue experimentation.” This is applicable particularly in the field of unexplored technologies. Factors to be considered in order to assess the absence of “undue experimentation” are listed in draft Rule 10(2). Fourth, it follows from the phrase “as of the filing date” that the disclosure shall be sufficient to carry out the invention on the basis of the knowledge of a person skilled in the art at the time of the filing date, not at the time of the examination or the grant of the patent.

10.03 Paragraph(2). For the purposes of assessing sufficiency of disclosure, the description, claims and drawings shall be examined ~~as submitted on the basis of the disclosure made in the description, claims and drawings on the filing date, including any amendments or corrections made as amended and corrected~~ in accordance with draft Article 7. Although, as a general rule, the abstract shall not be taken into account for purposes other than information purposes, the reference to draft Article 7 would allow to take into account the contents of the abstract which has been incorporated into the description through an amendment permitted under draft Article 7(3), provided the abstract was prepared by the applicant. The sufficiency of disclosure shall be assessed on the basis of the claims, description and drawings as a whole. Therefore, where a claimed invention is sufficiently disclosed in the claims, but the description and drawings alone do not disclose the invention in a sufficiently clear and complete manner, the enablement requirement under draft Article 10 is met. However, in this case, the “support requirement” under draft Article 11(2), i.e., that the claims shall be fully supported by the description and the drawings, may not be met.

Notes on draft Article 11 (Claims)

11.01 Paragraph(1). The requirement under this paragraph is a subjective one, since it is the applicant who determines what he regards as his invention and what the subject matter for which he seeks for patent protection is. Therefore, non-compliance with this requirement is not a ground for refusal of a claimed invention or for revocation or invalidation of a claim or a patent (see draft Articles 13 and 14).

11.02 Paragraph(2). The requirement that the claims shall be clear is important since, once a patent is granted, the claims define the scope of its protection. This requirement applies to individual claims as well as to the claims as a whole. Since the interpretation of the claims shall be made primarily on the basis of the wording of the claims (see draft Rule 12(1)), the meaning of the terms of a claim should, as far as possible, be clear for a person skilled in the art on the basis of the wording of the claim alone. The claim is deemed to be clear enough if a person skilled in the art can determine the boundaries of the claimed invention with a reasonable degree of certainty. For example, inconsistency between the terms of a claim and the description or prior art teaching, the use of terms such as “essentially,” “relatively” or “similar” in the claim, or absence of the basis of reference, where a word or phrase refers to an earlier citation, could be considered as not complying with the clarity requirement.

11.03 The requirement that the claims shall be concise also applies to the individual claims as well as to the claims in their entirety. For example, undue repetition of words or a multiplicity of claims of a trivial nature which render it unduly burdensome to determine the matter for which protection is sought, could be considered as not complying with this requirement. However, it is not the intention of this provision to form a basis for allowing Offices to reduce the number of claims where there is no absence of clarity or conciseness in respect of the claims. Issues concerning the number of claims and the requirement of “clear and concise” claims will also be discussed by the Working Group on Multiple Invention Disclosures and Complex Applications.

11.04 Paragraph(3)(a). This paragraph provides that the description or drawings should provide a basis for the claimed invention and that the scope of the claims must not be broader than the extent of the description and drawings. In other words, the claimed invention must be fully supported by the disclosure in the description and drawings in a manner allowing a person skilled in the art to extend the teaching of such disclosure to the entire scope of the claim.

11.05 However, non-compliance with the support requirement under this paragraph could often be considered as non-compliance with the enablement requirement under draft Article 10 as well. For example, where the claim is too broad to be supported by the description and drawings, the disclosure may also be insufficient to enable a person skilled in the art to carry out the claimed invention. Therefore, the SCP may wish to discuss the need of this subparagraph in view of draft Article 10.

11.06 In accordance with draft Article 14(1), once a patent has been granted, non-compliance with the requirement under this subparagraph should not be a ground for the invalidation or revocation of a claim or a patent.

11.07 Paragraph(3)(b). This paragraph provides that the claimed invention must be supported by the disclosure of the application as filed in a way to allow a person skilled in the art to recognize that, as of the filing date, the applicant actually was in possession of the claimed invention as his own intellectual creation.

11.08 Paragraph(4)(a). This paragraph provides the basis for the manner of interpretation of claims for the purposes of determining compliance with the requirements in respect of the claims (see paragraphs (2) and (3)), enabling disclosure (see draft Article 10), patentable subject matter (see draft Article 12(1)), novelty (see draft Article 12(2)), ~~and~~ inventive step/non-obviousness (see draft Article 12(3)) and industrial applicability/utility (see draft Article 12(4)). Details concerning the manner of interpretation of claims are prescribed in draft Rule 12. It follows from the wording of draft Article 2(1) that paragraph (4) and draft Rule 12 are also applicable to the interpretation of patented claims during infringement procedures.

11.09 Paragraph(4)(b). This paragraph reflects the decision taken at the sixth session of the SCP to include equivalents in the draft SPLIT. The background for this decision was the fact that, if certain Contracting Parties were to apply the doctrine of equivalents, while others would not, applicants would be forced to draft their claims in a different manner. Details are contained in draft Rule 12(5) and (6).

Notes on draft Article 12
(Conditions of Patentability)

12.01 This provision covers both the eligibility as to patentable subject matter and the conditions of patentability which were, in former drafts, contained in distinct provisions. The provision is of a very important nature, since it will constitute the basis for a possible future mutual recognition of search or examination results or even patents in different Contracting Parties.

12.02 As regards the conditions of patentability, the provision does not provide a distinct condition of patentability with respect to either industrial applicability or utility, but requires that patentable subject matters shall include products and processes which can be made and used in any field of activity (see Note 12.04). The reasons for this are the following: although they overlap in part, there are differences between the requirements of industrial applicability used by some systems on the one hand and of utility applied by other systems, on the other hand. These differences appear to be difficult to overcome, but, in practice, only very few applications are refused on those grounds. In addition, in many cases, the condition of industrial applicability/utility can be subsumed under, or at least overlap with, other requirements, such as patentable subject matter, the definition of invention or the enabling disclosure requirement. For example, in many cases, if a claimed invention fails to demonstrate its practical application, it is probable that the application will also fail to enable a person having ordinary skills in the art to carry out the invention. Further, applications concerning certain types of inventions are refused on the basis of the definition of the term "invention" in some countries, or are considered to contain non-patentable subject matter in other countries, while in a third category of countries, applications concerning the same inventions may be refused on the ground of lack of "industrial applicability." For example, inventions concerning "methods for treatment of the human or animal body by surgery or therapy or of diagnosis practiced on the human or animal body" are considered non-industrially applicable in some countries, while they may be excluded from patentability in the interest of public health in other countries. Further, under the law of some countries, aesthetic creations may be considered as not being applicable in "industry," while in other countries, they may not be regarded as "inventions." In addition, under many national laws, the effects of the patent right do not extend to acts of making or using patented inventions for private purposes. Therefore, even if a patent is granted to an invention which only serves for private use, that patent would not be enforceable in practice.

12.03 It is apparent that the notions of "industrial applicability" and "utility" are broad and, at least in part, overlap among each other as well as with other substantive requirements of patentability. In view of the objective of full harmonization of substantive patent law, it is therefore suggested not to include industrial applicability/utility as a distinct condition of patentability into the Treaty, but to deal with the issue in conjunction with patentable subject matter or any other requirement. As far as the compatibility of this suggestion with the TRIPS Agreement is concerned, it is to be noted that the TRIPS Agreement provides for minimum requirements only, and that the term "industrial applicability (utility)" used in that agreement is not further defined.

12.04 Paragraph (1)(a). This Paragraph (1) explicitly sets out that an invention, to be patentable, must fall within the scope of patentable subject matter, which is eligible for patent protection. The subject matter eligible for protection is defined in a broad way in subparagraph (a) so as to include all products and processes which can be made and used in any field of activity, but is limited to a certain extent by subparagraph (b). Further, Article 12(5) provides that certain inventions can be excluded from patentability. It is to be noted that the terms "which can be made and used in any field of activity" are intended to cover any human activity, without being restricted to specific areas, such as "industry" or the like. In addition, these terms would allow a Contracting Party to exclude inventions from patentability which, for example, could not be made and used in any given field, or for which no use was indicated in the application. Draft Rule 13 contains a list of exceptions from

patentable subject matter. — for example, a perpetual mobile. The words “in all fields of technology,” which are within square brackets, are contained in the TRIPS Agreement, Article 27.1. If these words were to be agreed, patentable subject matter would include products and processes in all fields of technology, including these products and processes that could be made and used in non-technical fields. However, it follows from the word “include” that a Contracting Party would be free to accept products and processes which do not belong to any field of technology, if it wishes to do so.

12.03 Paragraph(1)(b). This subparagraph contains a list of subject matter which shall not be considered as subject matter eligible for protection.

12.04 Item(i). This item would exclude from patentability mere discoveries, such as things that exist as such in nature without any human intervention or natural phenomenon without any concrete application.

12.05 Item(ii). The expression “abstract ideas as such” would encompass, in particular, mere descriptive ideas and concepts *per se*, such as for example mental activities, abstract rules or the mere representation of information.

12.06 Item(iii). The expressions “scientific and mathematical theories as such” and “laws of nature as such” are included for the purpose of completeness, since they could, at least in part, be covered by items (i) and (ii). This item covers only the mere description of such theories and laws of nature, but not inventions based on them.

12.07 Item(iv). Purely aesthetic creations are generally not protected by patents, but by industrial design or copyright. This item covers only the creation which has exclusively aesthetic aspects. If the creation contains any patentable element or function, those elements or functions would be patentable.

12.058 Paragraph(2). This paragraph provides the condition of novelty. The novelty requirement is considered to be complied with where the invention does not form part of the prior art. The definition of prior art is contained in draft Article 8, draft Rules 8 and 9 and the Practice Guidelines under Rule 8. ¶ Details on the requirement of novelty are contained in draft Rule 14 and in the Practice Guideline under that draft Rule.

12.069 Paragraph(3). The condition of inventive step/non-obviousness is fulfilled if the invention, compared to the prior art, would not have been obvious to a person skilled in the art. The terms “having regard to the differences and similarities between the claimed invention as a whole and the prior art” are not intended to undermine the fact — point to the steps which are usually applied in practice when assessing the requirement, but also make it clear that the invention as a whole must be inventive/non-obvious, but rather point to the steps which are usually applied in practice when assessing the requirement —. The limitation of the prior art to the definition contained in draft Article 8(1) excludes the prior art effect of earlier applications as provided in draft Article 8(2) with respect to inventive step/non-obviousness, in conformity with the opinion of the majority of the SCP at its fifth session —. Details on the requirement of inventive step/non-obviousness are contained in draft Rule 15 and in the Practice Guideline under that draft Rule.

12.10 Paragraph(4). This paragraph contains the condition of patentability of industrial applicability/utility. In order to reflect the debate at the SCP, three alternatives are proposed in this provision: the second and the third alternative reflect the standard contained in many national/regional legislation concerning industrial applicability and utility, respectively. The first alternative attempts to take into consideration the essence of both requirements, including real practices, and reflects a more global approach, whereby an invention would have to be able to be made or used in any field of commercial activity. This alternative is intended to cover both industrial applicability and utility, since it contains the aspect of making or using the invention in any field of commercial activity and the aspect of exploitation, which implies a certain utility of the invention.

12.11 Paragraph(5). This paragraph provides the legal basis for the inclusion, in the Regulations, of grounds of exclusion of certain inventions from patentability. The relevant Rule is draft Rule 13.

Notes on draft Article 13

(Grounds for Refusal of a Claimed Invention)

13.01 Paragraph(1). This paragraph provides for the grounds on which an application shall be refused. It aims at covering all the requirements relating to the examination of an application and to the grant of a patent on a claimed invention. For that reason, the requirements of the Patent Law Treaty, which relate to formality requirements, are also covered under this provision.

13.02 It follows from the words “where the Office finds that” that the Office is not obliged to examine all the requirements referred to in this paragraph before the grant of a patent. If, however, the Office finds that there is a non-compliance with one or more of those requirements during the examination procedure, it should refuse the application.

13.03 Paragraph(2). This paragraph explicitly provides that, as far as requirements relating to the examination of an application and to the grant of a patent on a claimed invention are concerned, a Contracting Party may not refuse an application on the basis of any requirements different from or additional to those prescribed in paragraph (1). Additional consequences of the non-compliance with the requirements contained in this provision are not regulated by the Treaty or the Regulations. For example, where new matter was included in the application after the original filing date, a Contracting Party would be free to provide the possibility of according a different filing date to the relevant parts relating to the new matter.

Notes on draft Article 14

(Grounds for Invalidation or Revocation of a Claimed Patent)

14.01 Paragraph(1). This paragraph provides for the grounds on which a patent, or, where applicable, a patented claim, shall be revoked or invalidated. The words “subject to... the Patent Law Treaty” are included to ensure that Article 10(1) of the Patent Law Treaty continues to apply, i.e., non-compliance with one or more of the formal requirements referred to in Articles 6(1) [form or contents of application], (2) [request form], (4) [fees] and (5) [priority

document]and8(1)to(4) [formandmeansoftransmissionofcommunications,languageofcommunications,modelinternationalformsandsignatureofcommunication]ofthePLTwith respecttoanapplicationmaynotbeagroundforrevocationorinvalidationofapatent,either totally,orinpart,exceptwherethenon-compliancewiththeformalrequirementoccurredas theresultofafraudulentintention.

14.02 Similarly,thisprovisionexpresslyprovidesthatnon-compliancewiththerequirements referredtoin draft Articles 6[unityofinvention]and11(3) (a) [supportrequirement]maynot beagroundfortherevocationorinvalidationofapatentoracclaim.Theserequirements, althoughtheymaybeneededfortheprocessingoftheapplication,arenotesessentialtothe issueofpatentabilityoftheclaimed invention.

14.03 Thisparagraphappliestothesegroundsindependentlyofwhethertheyareexamined beforetheOfficeorbeforeanyothercompetentauthority,includingacourt.Thewords“the invalidationorrevocation”isintendedtoalsocoversanctionswhichareofequivalenteffect torevocationorinvalidation,suchasnon-enforceabilityofrights.

14.04 Paragraph(2).ThisparagraphexplicitlyprovidesthataContractingPartymaynot invalidateorrevokeapatentedclaimorapatentonthebasisofanyrequirementsdifferent fromadditionaltothoseprescribedinparagraph (1).Concerningthewords“the invalidationorrevocation,”referenceismadetotheexplanationunderparagraph (1)(see Note 14.03).

NotesondraftArticle15
(~~Observationsand~~Review)

~~15.01 Paragraph(1). This provision parallels similar provisions under the PLT with respect to formality requirements, for example, Articles 6(7), 7(5) and 8(7). The time limit under this paragraph is prescribed in Rule 16.~~

~~15.02 Paragraph(2). This paragraph provision seem to be self-explanatory.~~

NoteondraftArticle16
(Evidence)

16.01 This article provides the general principles with respect to the submission of evidence and the burden of proof. Under these principles, an applicant or any third party may initiate, or the Office of a Contracting Party may require, the submission of evidence supporting the veracity of any alleged fact in relation to the patentability of the claimed invention and the validity of the patented claim.

Note on draft Article 167
(Relationship to PLT)

167.01 This provision regulates the relationship between the present Treaty and the PLT. The difference between the two alternatives contained in square brackets are that, in the first case, which is modeled after Article 15 of the PLT and Article 15 of the Trademark Law Treaty (“TLT”), Contracting Parties would have to comply with the provisions of the PLT in the applicable law, without having to join the PLT, while, in the second case, they would have to become a party to that treaty. While the first alternative preserves the freedom of Contracting Parties to join the PLT, the second alternative would ensure the same membership in both treaties. According to Article 1(x), the term “Patent Law Treaty” includes the Treaty with future revisions, amendments, and modifications, if any. Therefore, a provision similar to Article 16 of the PLT will be required in the SPLT.

Note on draft Article 17
(Regulations)

17.01 ~~No changes have been made to this provision compared to the version contained in document SCP/5/2, since it will form part of the final administrative provisions which are suggested to be discussed at a later stage. Therefore, corresponding Notes will be submitted later.~~

Note on draft Article 18
(Practice Guidelines)

18.01 ~~Reference is made to Note 17.01.~~

II. NOTES ON THE HDR AFT REGULATIONS

Note on draft Rule 1 (Abbreviated Expressions)

R1.01 This provision appears to be self-explanatory.

Notes on draft Rule 2

(Person Skilled in the Art Under Articles ~~4(x)~~, 7(3)(e), 10(1), 11(3)(b) and 4(a) and 12(3),
and
Rules 1(c)(i), ~~5~~4(1)(vii) and 2(b), ~~8(2)(b)~~, 10(1) and 2(iii), 11(1), ~~12(15)~~ and 3(a),
14(1)(ii), and 2(a) and (b) and 15 2), (3) and (4))

R2.01 The persons skilled in the art as defined under this provision is a ~~kind of~~ hypothetical person, who is supposed not only to have access to all the prior art which is available to him/her in the relevant field of the art on the relevant date, but also to have understood that prior art within the boundaries of his/her ordinary skills and common general knowledge in the art on the relevant date. The reference to the “relevant date” takes into account the fact that, in ~~certain~~ the cases relating to the disclosure, i.e., draft Articles 7(3)(b), 10(1), 11(3)(b) and 4(a) and draft Rules 4(1)(vii) and 2(b), 10(iii) and 12(5), ~~it~~ the relevant date is the actual filing date ~~which is the relevant date~~, while in ~~other~~ the cases relating to the determination of inventive step (non-obviousness), i.e., draft Article 12(3) and draft Rule 15(2), (3) and (4), that date is the priority claim date. ~~Some further details on the notion of “persons skilled in the art” are contained in the Guideline under the present draft Rule.~~ As regards the reference to the “relevant date” in draft Rule 14(1)(ii) and 2(a) and (b), since it concerns the prior art relevant to the determination of novelty, that date is the date on which the relevant prior art was made available to the public, except where therelevant prior art is an earlier application referred to in Article 8(2). In that case, the relevant date is the filing date or, where applicable, the priority date of the earlier application. As regards the term “general knowledge,” reference is also made to draft Rule 1(c)(i).

R2.02 The definition under this provision is applicable to the term “persons skilled in the art” throughout the Treaty and the Regulations, including the Practice Guidelines. However, the relevant information at his/her disposal may differ between the determination of novelty and inventive step (non-obviousness) and of sufficiency of disclosure. For novelty and inventive step (non-obviousness) purposes, the persons skilled in the art make that determination based on his/her knowledge of the prior art, while for the sufficiency of disclosure purposes, the persons skilled in the art know the disclosure of the claimed invention in the application in addition to the prior art.

R2.03 It follows from the text of draft Article 8(2) that the scope of the “prior art under Article 8” includes an “earlier application” under draft Article 8(2) only for the determination of novelty.

Notes on draft Rule 3
(Exceptions Under Article 3(2))

R3.01 As a general rule, item (i) excepts international applications under the PCT from the scope of application of the Treaty and the Regulations, as long as the “national phase” in respect of such applications has not started. Thus, the provision under the PCT would continue to apply to international applications in the “international phase.” It is proposed to include this exception in the Regulations, rather than in the Treaty, in order to maintain some flexibility with regard to possible future developments of the PCT. It is to be noted, however, that due to the introductory words “Except for Article 8(2)” presented within square brackets in item (i) are included, international applications under the PCT would constitute prior art under Article 8(2), even if such applications have not entered the “national phase.” This exception is proposed for discussion in view of Article 11(3) of the PCT, according to which any international application accorded an international filing date shall have the effect of a regular national application in each designated State as of the international filing date.

R3.02 Further exceptions provided under draft Article 3(2) are reserved at this stage.

Notes on draft Rule 4
(Details Concerning the Right to a Patent Under Article 4)

R4.01 Paragraph (1)(a). According to this provision, a Contracting Party is free to decide how it wishes to regulate the right to a patent in the case of employee’s inventions. Although the provision does not achieve full harmonization, it follows the majority of the SCP which expressed the wish, at its fifth session, to maintain some flexibility on this issue. The alternatives provided in draft Article 4 allow to cover the different legal regimes which may be applied under different systems.

R4.02 Paragraph (1)(b). This provision deals with the issue of applicable law for the determination of the right to a patent in the case of employee’s inventions, where employer and employee are in different countries. Since it is not a provision on substantive patent law, but rather deals with the applicable law, it is placed within square brackets. It has been included in order to obtain guidance from the SCP on whether, in view of the freedom provided in subparagraph (a), such a provision might be useful for users in order to determine which law is applicable where the employer and the employee operate in different countries.

R4.03 Paragraph (2). This paragraph may contain, if the SCP so decides, the applicable rules under the Treaty concerning the right to a patent where several inventors have jointly made the invention. The corresponding text is reserved, since no request by the SCP to include such a provision has been formulated. It may further be noted that the case where several inventors have independently made the invention is not addressed under this Treaty, since it relates to a first-to-file system.

Notes on draft Rule 54
(Further Requirements Concerning Contents and Order of Description
Under Article 5(2))

R54.01 This Rule is placed within square brackets, since its inclusion is subject to the discussion on draft Article 5 and on document SCP/6/5. Depending on the outcome of that discussion, the text of this Rule may need to be wholly modified. provides further requirements concerning the contents and order of the description which are not identical to the PCT requirements and, therefore, constitute exceptions under draft Article 5(2). For reference, Rule 5.1 of the PCT provides the requirements concerning the manner of description of PCT international applications.

R4.02 It follows from the wording of paragraph (1) that, as long as an applicant prepares the description with the contents in the manner and the order as prescribed in paragraph (1), the description would meet the requirement with respect to the contents of the description in any Contracting Party. In addition, according to paragraph (2)(a), a Contracting Party shall accept the contents of the description presented in a manner or an order different from the one that is prescribed in paragraph (1), where such a different manner or a different order would afford a better understanding, or a more economical presentation, of the claimed invention. However, with respect to the description of the claimed invention under item (iii) of paragraph (1), any Contracting Party is free to accept any other manner which is different from what is specified in item (iii). It goes without saying that, by all means, the substantive patentability requirements set forth in draft Articles 10 to 12 must be complied with.

R4.03 Paragraph (1), item (i). The word “technical” is placed in square brackets, as it relates to the provision concerning patentable subject matter in draft Article 12(1). However, even if a claimed invention is a product or process in a field of technology, there could be cases where the claimed invention “relates” to a non-technical field, for example, electronic purchasing, the generation of pages for an Internet website or the management of financial capital.

R4.04 Paragraph (1), item (ii). The deletion of the word “preferably” has the effect that an applicant would be obliged to cite the background art documents in the description, if they are known to him/her. It will contribute to the access to the background art by third parties as well as by examiners of patent Offices dealing with the substantive examination, and achieve a higher degree of harmonization.

R4.05 Paragraph (1), item (iii). The term “technical” which appeared within square brackets is proposed to be deleted, since the problem that triggered the inventive activity is not necessarily of a technical nature. Reference is made to paragraph (2)(b).

R4.06 Paragraph (1), item (vi). The description of any mode (not necessarily the best mode contemplated by the applicant) for carrying out the claimed invention shall be furnished under this item.

R4.07 Paragraph (1), item (vii). Since an applicant shall comply with the requirement concerning industrial applicability/utility under Article 12(4), he/she should demonstrate how that requirement is satisfied by way of indicating explicitly in the description the way(s) the

claimed invention is useful or industrially applicable. Such an indication, however, is not necessary if a person skilled in the art can clearly understand the industrial applicability/utility of the claimed invention without any explicit indication.

R4.08 Paragraph(2)(a). The words “a different manner” are intended to also cover the cases where additional contents, which are not provided under paragraph (1), are included in the description, or where not all the contents under paragraph (1) are included in the description.

R4.09 Paragraph(2)(b). Item (iii) of paragraph(1) requires that the descriptions shall describe the claimed invention in such a manner that the problem and its solution can be understood and state the advantageous effects of the claimed invention, if any. However, in some cases, it is possible to describe the claimed invention in another manner and yet, it would be as clear and understandable as the description prepared in accordance with item (iii) of paragraph(1). It goes without saying that, in any event, the substantive requirements under Articles 10 to 12 (which include the enablement requirement under Article 10) shall be complied with.

Notes on draft Rule 65
(Further Requirements Details Concerning Claims Under Article 5 (2))

R65.01 Reference is made to the explanation under Note ~~5~~ R5.01. This Rule provides further requirements concerning the claims which are not identical to the PCT requirements and, therefore, constitute exceptions under draft Article 5(2). For reference, Rule 6 of the PCT provides the requirements concerning claims in respect of PCT international applications. It goes without saying that, in any event, the substantive requirements under Articles 10 to 12 (which include the requirement that the claims should be clear and concise under Article 11) shall be complied with.

R5.02 Paragraph(1). It follows from the words “wholenumerals” that the numbering is not necessarily limited to Arabic numerals.

R5.03 Paragraph(2). The word “technical” is placed in square brackets, as it relates to the provision concerning patentable subject matter in draft Article 12(1). However, the SCP may wish to explore whether the inventions which are products and processes in all fields of technology should necessarily be defined in terms of the technical features. The term “features” means the characteristics of the claimed invention as a whole which show the peculiar or prominent aspects of the invention. The term “limitations” shall be considered as the specific elements or steps (depending on whether the claimed invention is a product or a process) which serve to form the claimed invention. The limitation may have both technical and non-technical aspects.

R5.04 Paragraph(3). According to this provision, an applicant has the option to draft the claim either in two parts or in a single part.

R5.05 Paragraph(4)(a). It is suggested to allow a reference to the description or any drawings where it is absolutely necessary, since, in some cases, a reference to the description or any drawing may be necessary for a clear description of the claimed invention. The phrase

“in respect of the [technical] features of the invention” is deleted, since it does not seem to add any meaning to the sentence.

R5.06 Paragraph (4)(b). It is suggested to allow graphs being contained in the claims, since there seem to be no apparent reasons to accept tables, but not graphs. As regards drawings, the SCP may wish to explore the acceptability of any drawing in the claims where it is absolutely necessary.

R5.07 Paragraph (4)(c). The words “that drawing or to” are deleted, since the words “the applicable part of that drawing” cover the entire drawing. These cond part of this subparagraph contained in document SCP/6/3 is moved to draft Rule 12(3).

R5.08 Paragraph (5). The text of this paragraph is subject to the outcome of the Working Group on Multiple Invention Disclosures and Complex Applications.

Notes on draft Rule 76

(Details Concerning the Requirement of Unity of Invention Under Article 6)

R76.01 The text of this Rule is subject to the outcome of the Working Group on Multiple Invention Disclosures and Complex Applications. Paragraph (1) contains the method for determining whether the requirement of unity of invention is satisfied in respect of a group of inventions claimed in an application. According to that method, unity of invention will exist only when there is a certain relationship among the inventions involving one or more of the same or corresponding “special technical features.” The terms “special technical features” contained in Rule 4(1) of the 1991 Draft, have been replaced by a description of those terms, originating from the last sentence of Rule 4(1) of the 1991 Draft and PCT Rule 13.2.

R76.02 Paragraph (2) is not intended to constitute an encouragement to the use of alternatives within a single claim, but is intended to clarify that the criterion for the determination of unity of invention (namely, the method contained in draft Rule 7(1)) remains the same regardless of the form of claim used.

R76.03 This provision does not prevent an Office from objecting to alternatives being contained within a single claim on the basis of considerations such as clarity, the conciseness of claims or setting up a claims fees system applicable in that Office.

Note on draft Rule 467

(Time Limit Under Article 457(1))

R467.01 This Rule seems to be self-explanatory.

Notes on draft Rule 8
(Availability to the Public Under Article 8(1))

R8.01 Paragraph(1). This paragraph obliges a Contracting Party to accept, as prior art under draft Article 8(1), any information that has been made available to the public in any form, including written form, oral communication, display, or use, ~~sale or offering for sale~~. Use may consist of producing, offering, marketing or exploiting a product, or offering or marketing a process or its application, or applying the process. Marketing may be effected, for example, by sale, offering for sale or exchange. Display may take the form of, for example, demonstrating a product or process in public or on television. Information that has been made available to the public via an electronic database or the Internet also forms part of the prior art. Since this is not an exhaustive list, other forms of making available information to the public would be covered by this provision as well.

R8.02 Paragraph(2)(a). This paragraph provides for the interpretation of the words “made available to the public” under draft Article 8(1). It follows from the explicit language of draft Article 8(1) that, if the relevant information was actually accessed by the public, and therefore, made available to the public, it forms part of the prior art. In addition, if there is a reasonable possibility that the information could be accessed by the public, it would also form part of the prior art. ~~The word “reasonable” is placed within square brackets for discussion by the SCP. Without the word “reasonable,” any theoretical possibility of access to the information would be sufficient for the information to qualify as prior art. For example, in an extreme case, one single copy of a book placed on the shelf of a library in a remote village may constitute prior art. On the other hand, if the word “reasonable” was retained, the level of public accessibility would be higher in a way that the availability requirement would be fulfilled only where some probability existed that, according to the concrete circumstances, the public was able to access the information.~~ The means by which the information was made accessible may offer some guidance on the interpretation of the words “a reasonable possibility that the information could be accessed by the public,” as prescribed in the Practice Guidelines. The word “public” shall be construed within the meaning of draft Rule 8(2)(b), according to which the public constitutes any person who is free to disclose the information.

R8.03 Paragraph(2)(b). This paragraph provides for the interpretation of the word “public” for the purposes of the definition of “prior art.” It follows from the words “any person ~~who may not be a person skilled in the art~~” that the public may be one or more ~~than one~~ persons who does not need to be a person skilled in the art and who, therefore, does not necessarily have the capability of understanding the prior art in the relevant field. However, such person (or persons) must not be bound by a confidentiality obligation, and, therefore, ~~is (are) must be~~ free to disseminate the information to others, whether he (they) understand(s) the information or not. Thus, where information was made available to a limited circle of persons, as long as these persons are free to disclose the information and, therefore, to pass the knowledge to others, they fall under the term “public” under this paragraph.

R8.04 Paragraph(3). ~~In accordance with draft Article 16, evidence may be submitted to the Office in order to demonstrate that the information concerned qualifies as prior art. Such evidence may include the establishment of the date of disclosure and the contents of the disclosed information, or the existence of a reasonable possibility that the public could access the information. What constitutes “corroborative evidence” is left to the applicable law of a~~

Contracting Party yies. It may consist of written evidence, testimonial evidence or any other kind of evidence allowed under the law of ~~the~~ Contracting Party yies.

R8.05 Paragraph (43). This provision aims at harmonizing the determination of the date of ~~publication~~ on which the information was made available to the public for the purposes of prior art, where only the year or the month, but not the date ~~of publication~~, is specified. It follows from this provision that, in such a case, the last day of the year or the month should be considered as the date on which the information ~~is~~ was made available to the public. However, a Contracting Party would be free to consider any evidence which ~~could determine~~ establishes another date as the publication date of such on which the information was made available to the public.

Notes on draft Rule 9

(Prior Art Effect of ~~Former~~ Earlier Applications Under Article 8(2))

R9.01 Paragraph (1)(a) and (b). These provisions provide further conditions to be fulfilled for a ~~former~~ earlier application to be considered as part of the prior art under draft Article 8(2). First, the “whole contents” of the ~~former~~ earlier application, that is, the claims, description, ~~and~~ any drawings ~~and~~ the abstract, where the abstract was prepared by the applicant, of the ~~former~~ earlier application (see paragraph (1)(b)), shall be considered as prior art. ~~Since the abstract serves the purpose of technical information only, it does not form part of the prior art (see draft Article 5(3)).~~ The inclusion of the contents of the abstract of the earlier application prepared by the applicant into the “whole contents” is justified, since, in accordance with draft Article 7(3)(a), the applicant may incorporate the contents of that abstract into the claims of the earlier application by way of an amendment or correction during the prosecution of the application before the Office. Second, the prior art consists of the whole contents of a ~~former~~ earlier application as of the filing date. This means that the subject matter which had been contained in, for example, the description as of the filing date, but was subsequently deleted during the prosecution of the application before the Office, also forms part of the prior art. Third, the ~~former~~ earlier application or a patent granted on that application should be published on or after the claim date of the claim contained in the application under consideration by the competent authority. It goes without saying that, if the ~~former~~ earlier application is published before the claim date, it forms part of the prior art under draft Article 8(1).

R9.02 Paragraph (1)(c). According to draft Article 3(1), the provisions of this Treaty and the Regulations shall apply to applications for patents for invention and for patents of addition ~~as well as to~~ including divisional, continuation and continuation-in-part applications of these applications. However, where a Contracting Party provides any other titles of protection for an invention under the applicable law of the Contracting Party, such as a utility model, a short term patent or an innovation patent, this provision obliges that Contracting Party to consider ~~former~~ earlier applications filed under these titles of protection as part of the prior art under draft Article 8(2), provided that the other conditions under draft Article 8(2) and draft Rule 9 are met. The last part of the provision contains the generally recognized principle of the prohibition of double protection of the same invention by more than one title of protection.

R9.03 Paragraph(2). This paragraph seems to be self-explanatory. The expression “subject matter that is contained in both that earlier application and that previous application” does not mean that the subject matter has to be literally identical in both applications or that it has to be contained in a specific part of the application (for example the claims). It rather means that the main elements or features of the subject matter must be clearly identifiable, for a person skilled in the art, in both the earlier application and the previous application as a whole.

R9.04 Paragraph(3). This paragraph covers the situation where the ~~former~~ earlier application is no longer pending before the Office on the date of its publication. In view of the period which is necessary for the preparation of the publication and for the administrative procedure, there could be cases where the ~~former~~ earlier application is still published despite its withdrawal, ~~or~~ abandonment or refusal before the publication date. This provision therefore provides that, under these circumstances, the ~~former~~ earlier applications shall not be considered prior art for the purposes of draft Article 8(2). On the other hand, where the ~~former~~ earlier application was withdrawn or abandoned, was considered withdrawn or abandoned, or was rejected on or after the date of its publication, that ~~former~~ earlier applications shall be considered as prior art, provided it was still pending before the publication date.

R9.05 Paragraph(4). This paragraph obliges a Contracting Party to provide these so-called “anti-self-collision.” Therefore, although the whole contents of a ~~former~~ earlier application shall be considered as prior art in accordance with draft Rule 9(1), if an applicant has claimed invention X in the ~~former~~ earlier application, and the same applicant claims invention Y, which has been disclosed in the description or the drawings of the ~~former~~ earlier application, in the subsequently filed application, the ~~former~~ earlier applications shall not form part of the prior art with respect to the latter application. In addition, where a Contracting Party allows internal priority, the applicant would have the possibility to claim the internal priority and to withdraw the ~~former~~ earlier application.

R9.06 The consequence of adding the words “or the inventor identified in”, as requested by the SCP at its sixth session is that the benefit of this paragraph excluding self-collision would be available also in the cases where the inventor named in two applications is the same, but the applicants of these applications are different because, for example, the inventor changed employer.

R9.067 The effect of the phrase “at the filing date of the application under examination” is that this paragraph excluding self-collision would not be applicable in the cases where the applicants were not originally the same, but became the same as a consequence of, for example, an assignment.

R9.078 Further, where the inventors named in two applications are the same, but the applicants of these applications are different, the benefit of this paragraph excluding self-collision would not be available. It follows from the phrase “one and the same person” that, where there are more than one applicant, or inventor, all the applicants or inventors, of the ~~former~~ earlier application and the application under examination must be the same. Further, the term “same claimed invention” means that the main elements or features of the claimed invention must be clearly identifiable for a person skilled in the art, as being contained in both applications taken as a whole.

Notes on draft Rule 10
(Sufficiency of Disclosure Under Article 10)

~~R10.01 Paragraph(1). The definition of the term “general knowledge of a person skilled in the art” is prescribed in draft Article 1(x).~~

R10.021 Paragraph(2). This paragraph provision provides an -exhaustive list of factors to be considered when assessing whether “undue experimentation” is required in order to carry out the invention on the basis of the disclosure in the application.

R10.032 Item(i). A person skilled in the art must be able to make and use the entire scope of the claimed invention without undue experimentation.

R10.043 Items(ii) and (iii). The subject matter to which the claimed invention pertains is essential to determine the common knowledge of a person skilled in the art and the state of the art.

R10.054 Items(iv) and (v). “The amount of direction provided in the application” refers to the information explicitly or implicitly contained in the description, claims and drawings, including references to other applications or documents. The more a person skilled in the art knows about the nature of the invention and the more the art is predictable, the less information in the application itself is needed in order to carry out the claimed invention.

R10.065 Item(vi). In addition to the time and expenses needed for carrying out the experimentation, the character of the experimentation, for example, whether it constitutes merely routine work or goes beyond such routine, should also be considered.

Notes on draft Rule 11
(Deposit of Biologically Reproducible Material Under Article 10)

~~R11.01 Paragraph(1). The date on which biologically reproducible material has to be deposited is left to the discretion of each Contracting Party. However, harmonization is achieved as regards the earliest date which could be required for the deposit, i.e., the filing date of the application concerned. The expression “person skilled in the art” is defined in draft Rule 2 (see Note R2.01). This provision establishes the legal effect of a deposit of biologically reproducible material referred to in an application. The deposit shall be taken into account in determining the compliance with the requirement regarding sufficiency of disclosure under draft Article 10 to the extent that such requirement cannot otherwise be complied with. It should be noted, however, that a reference to the deposit in the application would not create the presumption that the deposit is required to comply with the requirement regarding sufficiency of disclosure. Draft Article 5(2) incorporates by reference Rule 13bis of the PCT, which provides detailed requirements concerning the reference to deposited biological material. A Contracting Party is free to determine what constitutes “a depository institution” under this provision. However, in accordance with paragraph (3), any Contracting Party shall accept the effect of a deposit made with the International Depository Authority under the Budapest Treaty.~~

R11.02 Paragraph(2)(a)and(b).Accordingtosubparagraph (a),thegeneralruleisthatthe depositmustbemadeatthelatestonthefilingdateofthea pplication.However,wherethe depositismadeincompliancewiththerequirementsunderdraftArticle 7(3),i.e.,itdoesnot addnewmattertotheapplicationasofthefilingdate,subparagraph (b)providesforthe possibilitytomakethedepositafter thefilingdate.Thealternativesinsquarebracketswould eitherpermitorobligeContractingPartiestoacceptsuchlaterdepositundertheprescribed conditions.Whereadepositafterthefilingdateisprovided,theapplicantwouldhaveto submitev idencethatthedepositedbiologicalmaterialandthematerialdescribedinthe applicationasfiledarethesame.

R11.023 Paragraph(23).ThisparagraphobligesaContractingPartytoaccepttheeffectofa depositmadewithanInternationalDepositary AuthorityundertheBudapestTreatyonthe InternationalRecognitionoftheDepositofMicroorganismsforthePurposesofPatent Procedure(BudapestTreaty;seealso draft Rule 1(1)(c)),evenifthatContractingPartyisnot apartytothesaidTreaty.

NotesondraftRule12
(InterpretationofClaimsUnderArticle11(4))

R12.01 Paragraph(1).Asageneralrule,eachclaimshouldbeinterpretedonthebasisofthe words of the claim itself. However, in certain cases, in particular, where there are doubts as to the meaning of the wording, the description, drawings and the general knowledge of a person skilled in the art shall also be taken into account.

R12.021 Paragraph(21)(a).The words of a claim must be read as they would be interpreted by a person skilled in the art, and should not be limited in their meaning by what is explicitly disclosed in the description and drawings. However, where the description provides a special meaning by way of, for example, defining the term appearing in the claim, the description can be used for interpretation of the claim.

R12.032 Paragraph(21)(b).This subparagraph seems to be self -explanatory.

R12.043 Paragraph(32)(a).This subparagraph seems to be self -explanatory.

R12.054 Paragraph(32)(b).This subparagraph is included for avoidance of doubt. It follows from paragraph (2)(a) that the claims should not be interpreted in a limited manner by what is explicitly disclosed in the description and drawings ,except where the applicant introduces or agrees to a specific limitation (“disclaimer”). In particular, the interpretation of the claims should by no means be limited by the scope of the examples of the claimed invention contained in the description.

R12.05 Paragraph(3).This paragraph seems to be self-explanatory.

R12.06 Paragraph(4)(a).This subparagraph relates to the interpretation of a claim which defines the structure or material of a product [, or the steps of a process,] by its function, work or characteristics (means [or step] -plus-function claim). For the purposes of

determining the novelty and inventive step (non-obviousness) of such an invention, in principle, the claimed invention should be construed as a structure or material [oract] which performs the defined function or has the defined characteristics, except in the case provided in paragraph (4)(b). For example, a claim aimed at “a building material incorporating a layer which insulates heat” should be interpreted as a building material incorporating any “product” that is “ a layer which insulates heat.” It should be noted, however, that the issues of whether such means-plus-function claims are clear and concise or not and whether the disclosure of the claimed invention is sufficient for a person skilled in the art or not should be determined separately in accordance with draft Articles 10 and 11.

R12.07 Paragraph(4)(b). This subparagraph provides an exception with regard to the interpretation of means [orstep]-plus-function claims. Where the defined function or characteristic is essentially derived from a certain structure or material [oract], the claim should be construed as the structure or material [oract] as such. For example, concerning a claim such as “chemical compound X having anti-cancer effect,” where the anti-cancer effect is a characteristic which is inherent in the chemical compound X, the claim should be interpreted as meaning that “chemical compound X” *per se*.

R12.08 Paragraph(4)(c). This subparagraph concerns a claim defining a product by its manufacturing process (product-by-process claim). Such a claim should be construed as the final product, whatever the manufacturing process stated in the claim is, for the purposes of determining novelty and inventive step (non-obviousness). For example, as regards a claim “protein which is obtained by process P (steps P1, P2, ... and Pn),” if protein Z manufactured by a different process Q is identical to the claimed protein, and it is part of the prior art, the claimed protein is not considered novel whether or not the process P has been publicly known as of the claim date.

R12.09 Paragraph(4)(d). This subparagraph concerns a claim defining a product by its particular use (product-by-use claim). Such a claim should be construed as a product *per se*, unless the product is used solely for that purpose and/or is particularly suitable for such use. For example, a claim aimed at “a chemical compound Z for insecticidal use” should be construed as “a chemical compound Z,” unless the characteristics of the chemical composition of compound Z show that it is used solely for the insecticidal purpose or that it is particularly suitable for that purpose.

R12.10 Paragraph(5). As requested by the SCP at its sixth session, this provision provides that Contracting Parties shall take into account equivalent elements when interpreting claims for the purpose of the determination of infringement. The doctrine of equivalents has a bearing on the drafting of claims, since it affects the literal scope of the claims. The provision intend to prevent that a different interpretation of the scope of the claims in different countries would lead to the need for applicants to draft their claims in a different way. The text as proposed is based on draft Rule 11(2) as contained in document SCP/5/3.

R12.11 Paragraph(6). This provision provides the so-called “prosecution history estoppel” and aims at preventing applicants from extending the scope of protection of a claim to what the applicant or the owner has explicitly excluded from the scope of the claim. The term “any statement” includes amendments or corrections of the application or the patent.

Notes on draft Rule 13
(Exceptions to Patentable Subject Matter Under Article 12(45))

R13.01 Following the discussions at the fifth session of the SCP, a provision on exceptions to patentable subject matter under draft Article 12(1) has been included in the Regulations. It is suggested to divide the provision into two parts: paragraph (1) would contain the subject matter which is not considered to be inventions, such as mere discoveries, abstract ideas and the like, while paragraph (2) would contain the subject matter which are considered to be inventions, but which could be excepted from patentability.

R13.02 Paragraph (1), item (i). This item would exclude from patentability mere discoveries, such as things that exist as such in nature without any human intervention, natural phenomena or laws of nature without any concrete application.

R13.03 Item (ii). The expression “abstract ideas as such” would encompass, in particular, mere descriptive ideas and concepts *per se*, such as for example mental activities, abstract rules or the mere representation of information.

R13.04 Item (iii). The expressions “scientific theories as such” and “mathematical methods as such” are included for the purpose of completeness, since they could, at least in part, be covered by items (i) and (ii). This item covers only the mere description of such theories and methods, but not inventions based on them.

R13.05 Item (iv). Aesthetic creations are generally not protected by patents, but by industrial designs or copyright. This item covers only the creation which has exclusively aesthetic aspects. If the creation contains any patentable element or function, those elements or functions would be patentable.

R13.06 Paragraph (2) This provision is intended to contain the inventions which could be excepted from patentability. It does not contain any proposals yet, since the SCP may wish to consider, for example, either the inclusion of Article 27.2 and 3 of the TRIPS Agreement, or a reference to those provisions into paragraph (2). It is to be noted that this paragraph provision is not suggested to be of a mandatory nature. This is in line with the relevant provisions of the TRIPS Agreement referred to above, which read as follows:

“2. Members may exclude from patentability inventions, the prevention within their territory of the commercial exploitation of which is necessary to protect *ordre public* or morality, including to protect human, animal or plant life or health or to avoid serious prejudice to the environment, provided that such exclusion is not made merely because the exploitation is prohibited by their law.

3. Members may also exclude from patentability:

(a) diagnostic, therapeutic and surgical methods for the treatment of humans or animals;

(b) plants and animals other than micro-organisms, and essentially biological processes for the production of plants or animals other than non-biological and microbiological processes. However, Members shall provide for the protection of plant varieties either by patents or by an effective *suigeneris* system or by any combination thereof. The provisions of this subparagraph shall be reviewed four years after the date of entry into force of the WTO Agreement.”

Notes on draft Rule 14
(Items of Prior Art Under Article 12(2))

R14.01 Paragraph(1). This paragraph contains two widely recognized principles with respect to the assessment of novelty: firstly, item (i) states that a “mosaic” approach to assessing novelty, whereby a plurality of items in the prior art are combined to defeat the novelty of an invention, may not be used. Secondly, item (ii) contains the self-evident principle according to which the primary item of prior art must enable a person skilled in the art to make and use the claimed invention, since otherwise, lack of novelty could not be justified. The primary item of prior art should be an enabling disclosure as of the date on which it was made available to the public. However, where the primary item of prior art is an earlier application referred to in draft Article 8(2), the relevant date is the filing date or, where applicable, the priority date of the earlier application.

R14.02 It should be noted that the words “ ~~an~~ any item(s) of prior art” do not mean a particular physical item, such as a book, a journal or a patent application, which contains a teaching that forms part of the prior art. Rather, they should be considered as a reference to the particular teaching itself. Therefore, in accordance with this paragraph, where a book contains more than one teaching, each teaching should be taken into account individually for the determination of lack of novelty.

R14.023 Paragraph(2). ~~refer to further items of prior art, which are closely linked to the primary item of prior art, such as explicit references or explanations of terms contained in the primary item of prior art. These other items of prior art listed in items (i) to (iv) have to be taken into account for the determination of novelty together with the primary item of prior art, provided they would have been known to a person skilled in the art. With respect to item (iv), reference is made to paragraph (3) of the Guideline under draft Rule 14, which permits to take into account evidence showing that a characteristic not disclosed in the primary item of prior art was inherent on the claim date, even where that evidence has a later date than the claim date. The scope of the primary item of prior art shall be determined by the disclosure explicit or inherent to a person skilled in the art as of the date on which the primary item of prior art was made available to the public. For example, even if a certain characteristic is not disclosed explicitly in the primary item of prior art, such characteristic is inherent, where it could be recognized by a person skilled in the art that, taking into account this/her general knowledge, the characteristic is necessarily contained in the disclosure. The critical time for the determination of the general knowledge of a person skilled in the art is the date on which the primary item of prior art was made available to the public, except in the cases where the primary item of prior art is an earlier application filed before, but published after, the claim date of the application concerned.~~

R14.034 Further details on the methodology for the assessment of novelty are contained in the Practice Guideline under this draft Rule.

R14.05 Paragraph(3). This paragraph hseemstobeself -explanatory.

Notes on draft Rule 15
(Items of Prior Art Under Article 12(3))

R15.01 Paragraph(1). Unlike for the determination of novelty, multiple items of prior art may be combined for the determination of whether the requirement of inventive step ~~/(non-obviousness)~~ is met. As regards the words “items of prior art,” reference is made to the explanation in Note R14.012. The terms “multiple items of prior art ~~may be combined, ...~~” intend to cover the different situations where there are several teachings contained in different prior art references, for example, different published patents, or several teachings contained in the same prior art reference, such as one particular book. ~~The combination of different items of prior art may only lead to the rejection of inventive step/non-obviousness where a person skilled in the art would have been expected, with a reasonable likelihood, to combine the different items or embodiments of prior art. Conversely, where such a combination could not have been expected to be done by a person skilled in the art, the requirement of inventive step/non-obviousness would be met, even if each single item was obvious if taken individually.~~

R15.02 Paragraph(2). In determining the scope of the disclosure of ~~the~~ items of prior art, in addition to the explicit disclosure, an implicit disclosure, i.e., a teaching which a person skilled in the art could reasonably draw from the explicit disclosure, shall be also taken into account. The critical time for the determination of such disclosure is the claim date of the application concerned.

R15.023 Paragraph(23) contains the general and widely accepted principle that the general knowledge of the persons skilled in the art shall be taken into account for the determination of inventive step ~~/(non-obviousness)~~.

R15.034 Paragraph(4). This paragraph deals with the assessment of inventive step (non-obviousness). The combination, substitution or modification of one or more items of prior art may only lead to a lack of inventive step (non-obviousness), where a person skilled in the art would have been motivated by the prior art or his general knowledge, with a reasonable likelihood, to combine, substitute or modify one or more items of prior art. Conversely, where such combination could not have been expected from a person skilled in the art, the requirement of inventive step (non-obviousness) would be met, even if each single item would have been obvious if taken individually. Further details on the methodology for the assessment of inventive step ~~/(non-obviousness)~~ are contained in the Practice Guideline under this draft Rule.